:
	i
	f
	•
	·
	•
	·
	•
	,
	: : :
	:
-	i -
	i,
	į

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2008-CA-01333	

## TABATHA RENEE QUICK

Appellant

vs.

## JEFFREY DALE QUICK

)n	Appeal from	the Chancery	Court of Simpson	County, Mississipp	ì

# BRIEF OF APPELLANT TABATHA RENEE QUICK

Philip A. Gunn ( WELLS MARBLE & HURST, PLLC Post Office Box 131 Jackson, Mississippi 39205-0131 Telephone: 601.605.6900

		1
		f
		i
		· !
		i
		•
		:
		•
		: : :
		= ; -
		: ; ;
		i .

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

### No. 2008-CA-01333

TABATHA RENEE QUICK

APPELLANT

VS.

JEFFREY DALE QUICK

APPELLEE

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- I. The attempted service of process on Tabatha Quick was insufficient and therefore, the Chancery Court of Simpson County, Mississippi, lacked personal jurisdiction over her at the time of the January 7, 2008, hearing and committed error by proceeding with the hearing in her absence.
- II. The Chancery Court of Simpson County, Mississippi, erred when it considered the *Albright* factors without both parents being present.
- III. The Chancery Court of Simpson County, Mississippi, lacked jurisdiction to rule in this case.
- IV. The Order entered by the Chancery Court of Simpson County, Mississippi, on January 10, 2008, was inequitable, unfair, not based on the evidence, and created an undue hardship on Tabatha Quick.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 14, 2007, the Chancery Court of Simpson County, Mississippi, entered a *Final Judgment of Divorce* granting a divorce on the ground of irreconcilable differences to Tabatha Renee Quick (Tabatha) and Jeffrey Dale Quick (Jeff), the parties herein. (R 7). In conjunction with their divorce, the parties entered into a *Child Custody, Support and Property Settlement Agreement* in which the parties agreed that they would share joint legal and physical custody of their three minor children with the wife having primary physical custody. (R 17, ¶ IIIa)

Thereafter, on June 27, 2007, Jeff filed a Petition for Citation of Contempt and for Modification in which he alleged that he was an adult resident citizen in the State of Louisiana and that Tabatha was an adult resident citizen of the State of Alabama (R 38-39). Recognizing that Jeff was no longer a resident of Mississippi but was now a resident of Louisiana, Tabatha realized that neither the parties nor their children had any significant connection with the State of Mississippi anymore. Consequently, on August 3, 2007, Tabatha filed a *Motion to Transfer* Jurisdiction pursuant to the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act ("UCCJEA") which has been codified at Miss. Code Ann. § 93-27-101, et seq. (R 50). As part of her motion, Tabatha attached as an exhibit a protection order that was entered by the Circuit Court of Marshall County, Alabama, on May 1, 2007, against Jeff. (R 56). Tabatha also attached to her motion a copy of a Petition for Modification that was filed in the Circuit Court of Marshall County, Alabama on May 22, 2007. (R 59). The basis of Tabatha's motion was that the parties were no longer Mississippi residents and no longer had any significant connection with Mississippi. The children were living with Tabatha in Alabama, so the nature and location of any evidence pertaining to the best interests of the children was now located in Alabama. Therefore, the strongest jurisdictional ties now existed in Alabama. Further, Tabatha alleged that

7

		-

she had been a victim of domestic violence from Jeff in the past and felt that the local court in Alabama would be better able to provide her with the protection she needed rather than a court in Mississippi. Therefore, the more convenient forum to assume jurisdiction of the case was the Circuit Court of Marshall County, Alabama. (R 50-54).

On September 18, 2007, the Chancery Court of Simpson County entered an order denying Tabatha's *Motion to Transfer Jurisdiction*. (R 92). On the same day, the Court entered an *Order of Contempt and Modification* against Tabatha. (R 94).

On November 13, 2007, Jeff filed another *Petition for Citation of Contempt and for Modification* and once again admitted that he was a resident of Louisiana. (R 99). Jeff attempted to serve process on Tabatha through a process server named Ed Teal. Mr. Teal later testified under oath about his efforts to serve process on Tabatha. Mr. Teal stated that he went to Tabatha's house but admitted that he did not personally hand any process to Tabatha. (T 83). In fact, Mr. Teal testified that the closest he ever got to Tabatha was "10-15 feet away" when she walked out of her house at the time that he was trying to give the papers to her husband who refused to accept them. (T 83-84). Mr. Teal simply laid the papers on the ground and yelled to Tabatha "here's your papers." (T 83). Further, upon questioning by the Court, Mr. Teal admitted that he never attempted to hand the papers to Tabatha. (T 84). When asked by the Court why he did not hand the papers to Tabatha, he responded "they were refusing to accept them." (T 84).

Despite his failed attempt to personally serve Tabatha, Mr. Teal, nevertheless, completed a proof of service in which he claims to have personally served Tabatha on December 31, 2007, in Marshall County, Alabama. He filed this proof of service in the Chancery Court of Simpson County, Mississippi, on January 3, 2008. (R 108).

Thereafter, on January 7, 2008, the Chancery Court of Simpson County proceeded with a



hearing on Jeff's Petition for Citation for Contempt and for Modification which he had filed on November 13, 2007. Because Tabatha had not been legally served with process for this hearing, she did not appear. (T 10 and 13). Despite Tabatha's absence, the Court proceeded with the hearing. Presumably, Jeff was allowed to present evidence in support of his motion for modification, which would have included a discussion and consideration of the Albright factors. In fact, the order signed by the court specifically states that the Albright factors were considered in making its ruling. (R 111). As a result of this hearing, the Court entered an Order dated January 10, 2008, nunc pro tunc to January 7, 2008, transferring custody of the minor children to Jeff and suspending the visitation rights of Tabatha until she made an appearance before the court. (R 110-112).

In response to this ruling, Tabatha filed a Rule 60(b) Motion for Relief from the Court's Order on February 22, 2008, on the basis that the Court did not have personal jurisdiction over her at the time of the January 7, 2008, hearing and that the service of process attempted by Ed Teal was insufficient. (R 113). At the same time, Tabatha requested the Court to transfer jurisdiction of the case to her home state of Alabama.

Further, on April 16, 2008, Tabatha filed a *Motion to Dismiss* in the Chancery Court of Simpson County asserting that the Order entered by the Court on January 10, 2008, was void, because Tabatha was never served with personal process, and therefore, the Chancery Court of Simpson County lacked jurisdiction to enter said Order and to make the findings and rulings that it did. (R 128). Tabatha again requested that jurisdiction of the case be transferred to Alabama under the UCCJEA inasmuch as the parties were no longer residents of Mississippi. (R 128-129).

A hearing was held on both of Tabatha's motions on May 21, 2008. At the conclusion of the hearing, the Court denied Tabatha's motion to dismiss and declared that Tabatha had been

		_

properly served with process and entered an *Order of Contempt*. (R 136). In its *Order of Contempt*, the Court ordered the Sheriff of Covington County to hold Tabatha in jail until such time as she turned the children over to Jeff. The Court further ordered that Tabatha should have no visitation with the minor children until further order of the Court and ordered Tabatha to post a security bond in the amount of \$7,500.00 before the Court would consider any visitation rights whatsoever. (R 136-37).

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not have personal jurisdiction over Tabatha Quick on January 7, 2008, when it proceeded with a hearing to change custody, because Tabatha had not been served with process. A trial court can only acquire jurisdiction over an individual through service of process. The rules regarding service of process are clear and are to be strictly construed. Failure to comply with the rules for service of process equates to insufficient service of process, and the trial court has no jurisdiction over the person. If the trial court lacks personal jurisdiction over a person, then any judgment rendered against that person is void and invalid.

In this case, the summons issued for Tabatha was not personally served on her. Rather, the process server attempted to serve process on Tabatha's husband who refused to accept process. Apparently, the process server simply left the summons lying in the yard somewhere. Additionally, the process server never mailed a copy of the summons to Tabatha at the address where he left the summons. Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(1)(B) provides that when such "residence service" is made, it must be followed by the mailing of a copy of the documents to the defendant at the residence where process was delivered.

Finally, even if the process server had complied with the requirements of Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(1)(B), such "residence service" is not deemed complete until the tenth day after such



mailing. Therefore, the earliest possible date the service would have been deemed complete was 3 days after the hearing had already been held.

Clearly, the attempted service of process in this case was insufficient, so the Chancery Court of Simpson County did not have personal jurisdiction over Tabatha on January 7, 2008, when it ordered a change in custody. Consequently, the findings and rulings of the Chancery Court of Simpson County arising out of the January 7, 2008, hearing were in error and should be set aside.

As stated above, the Court proceeded with a hearing to change custody on January 7, 2008, and considered the *Albright* factors even though Tabatha Quick had not been properly served with process and was not present. It is error for a court to consider the *Albright* factors when both parents are not present for the hearing.

The "paramount consideration" in any child custody determination is *the best interest of the child*. Before a court can modify an existing child custody order, the court must determine that a change in custody is in the best interest of the child. Such a determination must include a consideration of the *Albright* factors before deciding to alter custody.

There is no evidence in the Record evidencing the basis of the Court's decision, no onthe-record findings of fact as to each of the *Albright* factors, or any finding as to why a change of
custody was in the best interest of the children. Any court is better able to make a decision
regarding what is in the best interest of the child after hearing from *both* parents, rather than only
one. Without hearing from both parents, the Court was less informed, less knowledgeable, and,
therefore, less able to fully consider what was in the best interests of the children and rule
accordingly.

For the Court to proceed in this fashion was error. Consequently, any findings of the

11



Court arising out of the January 7, 2008, hearing should be set aside and custody of the children should be returned to Tabatha Quick until such time as another hearing can be conducted with both parents present.

As previously stated herein, after the parties divorced, they each moved from Mississippi—Tabatha moving to Alabama with the three minor children and Jeff moving to Louisiana. Therefore, neither the parties nor their children had any further significant connection with the State of Mississippi.

Consequently, Tabatha filed a *Motion to Transfer Jurisdiction* on August 3, 2007, pursuant to the *Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act* (UCCJEA), which is codified at Miss. Code Ann. § 93-27-101, et seq.

The Chancery Court of Simpson County erred when it failed to transfer jurisdiction of this case to the Circuit Court of Marshall County, Alabama. The evidence in this case clearly establishes that neither the parties nor the children had any significant connection with the State of Mississippi anymore. The more convenient forum for this action was the State of Alabama inasmuch as Tabatha lived there with the children and had been doing so for two years, the children were enrolled in school there and doing well, their entire lives were connected to Alabama, and Jeff no longer lived in Mississippi. Furthermore, Tabatha's whole family lived in Alabama which provided her with a substantial support system for the children. Clearly, the parties no longer had any significant connection with the State of Mississippi, and Alabama was a more convenient forum to handle this matter. Therefore, jurisdiction of this matter should be transferred to the Circuit Court of Marshall County, Alabama.

The rulings of the Chancery Court of Simpson County worked to create great hardship on Tabatha, but more importantly, did not take into consideration what was in the best interests of



the children.

The January 10 Order suspended all visitation rights of Tabatha until such time as she came before the Court; there is nothing in the Order stating why it would be in the best interest of the children for their visitation rights with their mother to be suspended. This Order also required Tabatha to pay \$420.00 a month in child support without setting forth the basis for such a determination or even whether this complies with the statutory guidelines for child support.

The Court's Order of Contempt entered on July 14, 2008, also ordered Tabatha to be jailed until such time as the children were delivered to Jeff. The Court further ordered that Tabatha would have no visitation with the parties' minor children until further order of the Court. Again, the Court failed to provide any justification, explanation, or finding as to why it would be in the best interest of these young children for them to not see their mother in the course of regular visitation privileges.

These orders and rulings served to create great hardship on Tabatha, were inequitable, unjust, and, most importantly, hurt the children and were not in their best interest. Therefore, the January 10, 2008, order and the July 14, 2008, order of the Court were in error and should be set aside. Custody of the parties' minor children should be returned to Tabatha and this matter transferred to the Circuit Court of Marshall County, Alabama, for any further proceedings.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. The attempted service of process on Tabatha Quick was insufficient and therefore, the Chancery Court of Simpson County, Mississippi, lacked personal jurisdiction over her at the time of the January 7, 2008, hearing and committed error by proceeding with the hearing in her absence.

Whether a trial court has jurisdiction is a question of law, so the appellate court conducts a de novo review of jurisdictional questions on appeal. Trustmark National Bank v. Johnson,

13



865 So.2d 1148, 1150 (Miss. 2004).

"The existence of personal jurisdiction depends upon reasonable notice to the defendant." *Mansour v. Charmax Industries*, 680 So.2d 852, 854 (Miss. 1996), citing *Noble v. Noble*, 502 So.2d 317, 320 (Miss. 1987). A trial court can only acquire jurisdiction over an individual through service of process or by the individual's personal appearance. *Mansour*, at 854, citing *Aldridge v. First Nat'l Bank*, 165 Miss. 1, 14, 144 So. 469, 70 (1932) and citing *State ex rel. Moak v. Moore*, 373 So.2d 1011, 1012 (Miss. 1979).

The rules regarding service of process are clear and are to be strictly construed. *Tucker v. Williams*, 2007-CA-02223-COA, ¶12 (Miss. Ct. App. Mar. 31, 2009); *Lexington Ins. Co. v. Buckley*, 925 So.2d 859, 869 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005); *Young v. Sherrod*, 919 So.2d 145, 148 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005); *Kolikas v. Kolikas*, 821 So.2d 874, 878 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002); *Birindelli v. Egelston*, 404 So.2d 322, 323-24 (Miss. 1981).

The concept of personal jurisdiction requires strict compliance with the rules for service of process. *Tucker*, at ¶9; *Lexington*, at 865. Defects in the service of process are not permissible. *Mansour*, at 855, citing *Powell v. Powell*, 644 So.2d 269, 273-74 (Miss. 1994). Failure to comply with the rules for service of process equates to insufficient service of process, and the trial court has no jurisdiction over the person. *Tucker*, at ¶9 and ¶12; *Lexington*, at 869; *Young*, at 149; *Mansour*, at 855. If a party fails to comply with the standards governing adequate service of process, then the chancery court cannot obtain personal jurisdiction over an opponent. *Lexington*, at 864. Accordingly, the Mississippi Court of Appeals has held that it will reverse cases featuring defective service of process. *Id.* 

If a chancery court lacks personal jurisdiction over a party, then any judgment rendered against that party is void and invalid because "no judgment or order or decree is valid or binding



upon a party who has had no notice of the proceeding against him." *Tucker*, at ¶9 and ¶20; *Lexington*, at 864, citing *James v. McMullen*, 733 So.2d 358 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999).

In this case, the summons issued for Tabatha was issued pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. 81(d)(2) which states that certain actions are triable seven days after completion of service of process. Obviously, the successful completion of service of process is required before any matter listed under Miss. R. Civ. P. 81(d)(2) can be tried.

The attempted service of process by Ed Teal on December 31, 2007, failed to comply with the requirements for service of process under Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(1)(A). Under Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(1)(A), service of a summons on an individual must be delivered to the individual personally. By Mr. Teal's own testimony, he did not serve Tabatha personally. As shown above, Mr. Teal stated that he went to Tabatha's house but did not personally hand any process to Tabatha. (T 83). He testified that the closest he ever got to Tabatha was "10-15 feet away" when she walked out of her house while he was trying to give the papers to her husband who refused to accept them. (T 83-84). He merely laid the papers on the ground and yelled to Tabatha "here's your papers." (T 83). He admitted that he never attempted to hand the papers to Tabatha. (T 84). Consequently, Mr. Teal's attempted service failed to comply with the requirements of Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(1)(A) for service upon an individual.

Alternatively, under Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(1)(B), a copy of a summons can be left at the individual's usual place of abode with the individual's spouse who is willing to receive service and by thereafter mailing a copy of the summons to the person to be served at the place where a copy of the summons was left. Clearly, by Mr. Teal's own testimony, he admitted that Tabatha's husband refused to accept service, i.e., was not willing to receive service. (T 83-84). Furthermore, there is no evidence that Mr. Teal ever thereafter mailed a copy of the summons to



Tabatha at the place where he left the summons. The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that "residence service" by the mere delivery of a summons and without the requisite mailing thereafter does not complete service. *Williams v. Kilgore*, 618 So.2d 51, 55 (Miss. 1992). The court explained that Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(1)(B) provides that when such "residence service" is made, it must be followed by the mailing of a copy of the documents by first class mail to the defendant at the residence where process was delivered. *Id.* So again, Mr. Teal's attempted service failed to comply with the requirements of Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(1)(B) for "residence service."

Finally, even if Tabatha's husband had been willing to accept service on her behalf and even if Mr. Teal had mailed a copy of the summons to Tabatha as required by Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(1)(B), such "residence service" is not deemed complete until the tenth day after such mailing. Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(1)(B); Collom v. Senholtz, 767 So.2d 215, 216 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000); Williams v. Kilgore, at 55. Therefore, assuming arguendo that Mr. Teal had complied with the requirements of Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(1)(B), (which is denied), the earliest possible date he could have mailed the summons to her would have been that same day — December 31, 2007. Ten days from December 31, 2007, was January 10, 2008, and that would have been the earliest date which service of the summons would have been deemed complete under Miss R. Civ. P. 4(d)(1)(B). Therefore, even if Mr. Teal had properly made a "residence service," service would not have been deemed complete until January 10, 2008; yet the hearing in this matter was 3 days earlier on January 7, 2008.

Service of process is not proper where a plaintiff chooses which obligations for service of process he wants to meet. *Lexington*, at 868. Nor is service of process proper where the plaintiff meets some or most of the obligations for service of process. *Id.* Rather, a party must fulfill

		-
		-

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