IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TABATHA RENEE QUICK

APPELLANT

•

VS.

Ì.

NO. 2008-CA-01333

JEFFREY DALE QUICK

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE JEFFREY DALE QUICK

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF SIMPSON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

Oral argument not requested.

TERRELL STUBBS ATTORNEY AT LAW ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE 120 W. COURT AVENUE P.O. BOX 157 MENDENHALL, MS 39114 601-847-4811- Telephone 601-847-5938-Fax

terrellstubbs@thestubbslawfirm.com

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TABATHA RENEE QUICK

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-CA-01333

JEFFREY DALE QUICK

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

i

Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 4(d)(1)(A), provides that summons and complaint shall be served together upon a person by either sheriff or process server. The rule dictates that a copy of the summons and complaint has to be delivered to the individual personally or to an agent authorized by appointment or by law to receive service of process; or "(B) if the service under subparagraph (1)(A) of this subparagraph of this subdivision cannot be made with reasonable diligence, by leaving a copy of the summons and complaint at the defendant's usual place of abode with the defendant's spouse or some other person of the defendant's family above the age of sixteen years who is willing to receive service, and by thereafter mailing a copy of the summons and complaint (by first class mail, postage prepaid) to the person to be served at the place where a copy of the summons and of the complaint were left. Service of a summons in this manner is deemed complete on the 10th day after such mailing."

In the case at hand, Mr. Teal tried on several occasions to deliver the summons and complaint to Ms. Quick. She admitted that she tried to avoid receiving service. Mr. Teal testified that on December 31st, 2007, he followed Ms. Quick into her driveway and left the paper with her. (T. 82). He did testify that he dropped them at her husband's feet, because Ms. Quick walked out of the room. (T. 82-83). As soon as Mr. Teal placed the papers on the ground, Ms. Quick walked out of the house, and Mr. Teal told her, "Tabatha, here's your papers." (T. 83).

Mr. Quick asserts that this Court should find that Ms. Quick was properly served with process in accordance with Rule 4(d)(1)(A), as evidenced by the record and court testimony.

In the alternative, if the Court finds that Ms. Quick was not properly served within the scope of Rule 4(d)(1)(A), then certainly the Court should find that service of process was rendered in full compliance with Mississippi Rule Civil Procedure 4(c)(5). The evidence is quite clear that Mr. Quick's attorney sent the proof of service summons to Ms. Quick via certified mail, restricted delivery, return receipt requested. (R.109; S.R. 1). During the May 21st, 2008 hearing, the Chancery Court Judge stated that there was evidence that a certified mailed envelope, return receipt requested was sent to Ms. Quick on January 2nd, 2008. The Court found

that notice was sent to Ms. Quick on November 28, 2007, December 6, 2007, December 13, 2007 and December 20, 2007, and that the certified mail, returned receipt requested, restricted delivery, was sent back from the post office unopened with the notation on it marked "unclaimed". (T. 91-92; S.R. 1.). The mail was never marked returned for improper or incorrect address. It was simply returned "unclaimed" which evidenced that Ms. Quick simply refused to pick up her mail. Furthermore, she admitted that she knew what the yellow, certified mail cards were, but that she did not claim them. (T. 59, 66). Mr. Quick asserts that *Noble, supra,* is applicable in this instance because he properly complied with Rule 4(c)(5). Consequently, Mr. Quick asserts that because Ms. Quick had knowledge, and was properly served in accordance with Rule 4(c)(5), she should not be allowed to prevail on the issue of improper service of process.

Ms. Quick also argues that "residence service" was not properly rendered in accordance with Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(1)(B).

Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(1)(B) provides that if service cannot be made in accordance with Rule 4(d)(1)(A) with reasonable diligence, then it can be made by leaving a copy of the summons and complaint at the defendant's usual place of abode with the defendant's spouse who is willing to receive service, and by thereafter mailing a copy of the summons and complaint (by first class mail, postage prepaid) to the person to be served at the place where a copy of the summons and of the complaint were left. The Rule also provides that service in this manner is deemed complete on the 10^{th} day after such mailing.

Mr. Quick acknowledges that Ms. Quick's husband would not accept service. However, Mr. Quick maintains that Mr. Teal properly served process upon Ms. Quick in accordance with Rules 4(d)(1)(A) and Rule 4(c)(5), by providing her with notice that she was being served, and then by dropping the papers near her husband, and additionally, by providing her with verbal

ì

notice that those were her papers. Ms. Quick has admitted that she has attempted to avoid service of process in this matter. As stated by this Court in *Lexington, supra*, the existence of personal jurisdiction...depends upon the presence of reasonable notice to the defendant that an action has been brought." *Lexington*, at 865, quoting *Noble v. Noble*, 502 So.2d 317, 320 (Miss. 1987). The evidence is overwhelming in this case that establishes that Ms. Quick had reasonable notice that an action had been brought. She received notice of the contempt petition filed against her in June, 2007, and she subsequently appeared in the Chancery Court of Simpson County in August, 2007, on her Motion to Transfer Jurisdiction. (T. 5). Moreover, Ms. Quick was aware of the Court Order of September, 2007, which denied her Motion to Transfer Jurisdiction, and which found her in Contempt. (R. 92, 94). Ms. Quick never appealed the Order entered September 18th, 2007 (emphasis added).

Ms. Quick should not be allowed to prevail on the issue that the Chancery Court of Simpson County lacked personal jurisdiction because she was not served properly, especially since the record is replete with evidence which demonstrates that she had knowledge of the actions, and attempted to subvert them by refusing to accept service of process after the initial Contempt Order was entered against her in September, 2007.

Accordingly, Mr. Quick asserts that Ms. Quick was properly served with process in accordance with Miss. R.Civ. P. 4(d)(1)(A) and Rule 4(c)(5).

II. THE CHANCERY COURT OF SIMPSON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI DID NOT ERR WHEN IT CONSIDERED THE *ALBRIGHT* FACTORS WITHOUT BOTH PARENTS BEING PRESENT.

Ms. Quick maintains that the Court erred when it proceeded with a hearing on Mr. Quick's petition to change custody on January 7, 2008, without her being present, and further erred when it considered the $Albright^2$ factors without her presence. As support for her contention she cites the case of *Wade v. Wade*, 967 So.2d 682 (Miss.Ct.App. 2007).

In *Wade*, the husband filed for divorce, and had the complaint and summons personally served on the wife the same day. The wife never appeared nor responded to the complaint within thirty days. The Chancery Court of Simpson County entered a final judgment of divorce in the husband's favor on the grounds of cruel and inhumane treatment. The court also awarded joint legal custody of the parties' minor child and primary physical custody to the father. The Court ordered the mother to pay child support, provide insurance and maintain a life insurance policy upon herself in the amount of \$100,000 with the minor child as the beneficiary. After the wife received a copy of the judgment of divorce, she filed a motion to set aside the judgment and for a new trial pursuant to Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 59. The Chancery Court granted the wife's motion in part, revisiting the issue of custody based on the *Albright* factors. *Wade*, 967 So.2d at 683.

It is worth noting at this juncture, that Ms. Quick stated in her brief that the Chancery Court in *Wade* revisited the issue of custody based on the *Albright* factors, "finding that it was error to conduct a hearing on custody and consider the *Albright* factors when both parents were not present." The *Wade* case does not state that the chancellor granted the motion in part because he erred in conducting a hearing to consider the *Albright* factors when both parents were not present. In fact, there is no language of this sort in that case. The Court of Appeals, in reviewing *Wade*, noted that the chancellor's rationale for granting the motion in part was clear from the order, where the Order stated that "the motion was 'granted in part' because of equitable considerations and that the court would revisit the issue of custody for a determination

i

² Albright v. Albright, 437 So.2d 1003 (Miss. 1983)

based on the *Albright* factors- an exercise not undertaken in the original grant of custody. *Wade*, 967 So. 2d at 684.

It is obvious from a reading of *Wade*, that the Chancellor realized that he did not consider the *Albright* factors at all in the original grant of custody, unlike the case at hand. Notwithstanding, once the issue of the adverse and material change in circumstances arose in the present case, the Chancellor did consider the *Albright* factors, even though Ms. Quick was absent. The Chancellor rightfully did so, because he found that Ms. Quick had been properly served with process and failed to appear. Therefore, he continued with the hearing in accordance with his authority to do so, and he thereby fully considered the *Albright* factors. (R. 111). In his Order of Contempt and Modification of Final Judgment of Divorce and Prior Order of filed January 10, 2008, the Chancellor found "[t]here has been a material and substantial change in circumstances, which has adversely affected the children and the Court having considered the *Albright* factors in rendering its decision and the majority of said factors being in favor of the Petitioner, Jeffrey Dale Quick, this court finds that it would be in the children's best interest to modify the Final Judgment of Divorce and the prior Order of Contempt and Modification." (R. 111)

Ms. Quick also stated in her brief that the Court of Appeals in *Wade* affirmed the chancery court's decision to not decide an issue of child custody without both parents being present. Mr. Quick argues that Ms. Quick misinterprets the Court of Appeal's ruling in *Wade*. While the Court of Appeals did state that the Mississippi Supreme Court has held that the failure of a chancellor to make findings of fact as to the applicable *Albright* factors is reversible error, we do not have such an instance in this case. *See Wade* 967 So 2d at 684. In this case, the

Chancellor specifically considered the *Albright* factors. As to the issue of the presence of both parents, the Court of Appeals stated:

"[c]ertainly, a more prudent determination of custody may be made when based upon evidence presented from both parents rather than evidence presented by only one. Where a chancellor has the opportunity to consider the argument of both parents, the facts and circumstances affecting his determination are presumably more fully developed. It follows that a chancellor is able to make a more informed decision, thereby, ensuring to a higher degree of certainty that the best interest of the child is met.

Wade, 967 So.2d at 684.

Ms. Quick erroneously maintains that the *Wade* court established that it was error for a court to entertain a petition for change of custody and to consider the *Albright* factors when both parents are not present for the hearing. The *Wade* Court held that it was error for a court not to consider the *Albright* factors. The Court merely opined that it would be better if both parents were present so that a chancellor would be able to consider both arguments and fully develop his decision. However, the Court did not create a hard and fast holding that the absence of one parent alone is an error, especially where, as in this case, the Chancellor considered the *Albright* factors. If Ms. Quick's argument is taken literally, then a parent engaged in a custody dispute with the other parent, who is faced with the possibility of losing custody, might be tempted to just not show up for Court, and have the matter linger indefinitely, because a Court would never be able to reach a decision, using the Albright factors, if the other party was not present for the hearing. This is certainly not what the Appellate Court meant in Wade, and therefore, Mr. Quick asserts that Ms. Quick should not prevail on this issue.

III. THE CHANCERY COURT OF SIMPSON COUNTY HAD JURISDICTION TO ISSUE A RULING IN THIS CASE.

Ms. Quick argues that the Simpson County Chancery Court erred when it did not transfer jurisdiction of this case to the Circuit Court of Marshall County, Alabama. She maintains that the evidence in this case clearly establishes that neither the parties nor the children had any significant connection with the State of Mississippi, and therefore, the more convenient forum for the action was, in her opinion, the State of Alabama. Ms. Quick stated in her brief that she and the children had been living in Alabama for two years; that the children were enrolled in school in Alabama and were "doing well and finally that their entire lives were connected to Alabama, and that Mr. Quick no longer lived in Mississippi." (T. 17-19). Ms. Quick indicated that her Motion to Transfer Jurisdiction set forth sufficient evidence showing that neither party had any significant connection with the State of Mississippi any longer, and that Alabama was clearly the more convenient forum to handle this matter.

"As a matter of state law, a court that enters the original custody decree has jurisdiction to subsequently modify the decree separate and apart from the jurisdictional section of the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act (UCCJEA). *Jones v. Starr*, 586 So.2d 788, 790 (Miss. 1991) citing *Stowers v. Humphrey*, 576 So.2d 138, 141 (Miss. 1991). The *Jones* Court, which continues to be good law, clearly establishes that the Chancery Court of Simpson County continues to have jurisdiction in this case to modify the custody decree because it was the court that issued the original custody decree in this case.

Mr. Quick also maintains that even if an Alabama Court has jurisdiction, because the mother nor children are no longer present in this state, the Chancery Court of Simpson County has continuing jurisdiction in this case pursuant to the Mississippi Code Ann. § 93-27-202.

Mississippi Code Ann. § 93-27-202 provides:

"(1) Except as otherwise provided in Section 93-27-204, a court of this state which has made a child custody determination consistent with Section 93-27-201 or 93-27-203 has exclusive, continuing jurisdiction over the determination until:

(a) A court of this state determines that neither the child, nor the child and one parent, nor the child and a person acting as a parent have a significant connection with this

state and that substantial evidence is no longer available in this state concerning the child's care, protection, training, and personal relationships; or

(b) A court of this state or a court of another state determines that the child, the child's parents, and any person acting as a parent currently do not reside in this state.

(2) A court of this state which has made a child custody determination and does not have exclusive, continuing jurisdiction under this section may modify that determination only if it has jurisdiction to make an initial determination under 93-27-201.

Ms. Quick errs in her argument for the simple fact that the Chancery Court of Simpson County made the initial child custody determination consistent with Section 93-27-201. Additionally, pursuant to the statute, Mr. Quick, the father of the children continues to have a significant connection with this state. He presently lives in Mississippi. Ms. Quick stated in her brief that Mr. Quick no longer resides in the State of Mississippi, but lives in Louisiana. After the divorce, Mr. Quick worked in Louisiana, and in his initial Petition for Contempt, noted that he was a citizen of Louisiana. Notwithstanding, he testified at the hearing held on August 9th, 2007, that he did not have a home in Louisiana, nor did he pay any rent there. Mr. Quick works for a drilling company, and was staying in Louisiana because of his work. (T. 35, 127) Mr. Quick traveled back and forth to Mississippi. The record indicates that Mississippi is the state in which the children were to be delivered for visitation purposes. Mr. Quick is currently living in Mississippi, and has done since "before Christmas 2007." (T. 127, 137). Therefore, the Chancery Court of Simpson County did not err in continuing to maintain jurisdiction over this case for the purpose of modifying the child custody decree.

In *Jones, supra*, the Mississippi Supreme Court determined that the trial court could decline to exercise its continuing jurisdiction if it determined that there was a more convenient forum. *See Jones*, 586 So. 2d at 790; *See also* Miss. Code. Ann. § 93-23-13 (1994). In the instant case, the Chancery Court of Simpson County decided that it was the more

i.

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